

# Transition to a Low Emissions Economy

A submission by Local Government New Zealand to the Productivity Commission



## **Contents**

| Contents   | 2  |
|--|----|
| We are. LGNZ.  | 3  |
| Introduction   | 3  |
| LGNZ's position on climate change  | 3  |
| Addressing the problem by making change  | 4  |
| The consequences of failing to act   | 4  |
| Treat adaptation and mitigation as interrelated                                  | 5  |
| World Bank's three broad principles for guiding countries' low-emissions efforts | 5  |
| Summary  | 5  |
| Responses to questions   | 6  |
| Reducing emissions in agriculture  | 6  |
| Alternative land uses and sequestering carbon in forests                         | 7  |
| Electric vehicles and transportation   | 8  |
| Building design and use  | 9  |
| Waste  | 9  |
| Direct regulation and the current statutory framework                            | 10 |
| Market based instruments   | 10 |
| Support for innovation and technology  | 11 |
| Approaches to embed widespread support for effective reduction of GHG emissions  | 11 |
| An independent climate change body   | 11 |
| The major players in driving forward change                                      | 12 |
| The sustainability of an effective emissions-mitigation strategy                 | 13 |
| Climate change presents opportunities and benefits                               | 13 |
| Conclusion   | 13 |



#### We are. LGNZ.

Local Government New Zealand (LGNZ) is the national organisation of local authorities in New Zealand and all 78 councils are members. We represent the national interests of councils and lead best practice in the local government sector. LGNZ provides advocacy and policy services, business support, advice and training to our members to assist them to build successful communities throughout New Zealand. Our purpose is to deliver our sector's Vision: "Local democracy powering community and national success."

This submission was endorsed by Dave Cull, President, Local Government New Zealand.

#### Introduction

LGNZ welcomes the Productivity Commission's inquiry into how New Zealand can transition to a low emissions economy, and the opportunity to make a submission.

LGNZ's position is that climate change is an important issue requiring a number of different urgent actions by a variety of parties. There is no shortage of signals being given by a wide range of stakeholders and communities that there is a need for greater and urgent action on climate change. Those calls should embolden the Productivity Commission to make recommendations for significant and tangible change.

The local government sector has committed to working with its communities on the issue of climate change. It is important that communities are involved in discussions about climate change action and understand the need that there is for everyone to do their bit to reduce our domestic emissions, in order to deliver attitudinal and behavioural change and move hearts and minds. The Productivity Commission could add further momentum and value to this inquiry by making the issues and findings that it considers publicly visible so as to stimulate wide community debate and discussion with all New Zealanders.

LGNZ wishes to stay engaged in the Productivity Commission's work and would like to be kept informed about and have input into the issues and solutions that it explores.

#### LGNZ's position on climate change

Local government recognises, as stated in its Position Statement on Climate Change and the Local Government Leaders' Climate Change Declaration (copies included at Appendix A), that we must act on climate change now to avoid future risk. Local authorities have accepted that they are at the frontline of climate change adaptation and have a role to play in mitigation, and that their responsibilities will grow in addressing climate change as both anticipated and unforeseen problems are revealed. Local government has a strong interest in the impacts of climate change and what can be done to mitigate those impacts.

Local government is already working with its communities to address the issue of climate change. Councils are undertaking a wide range of actions to both adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change. For example, a number of councils across the country have developed and implemented emissions reduction plans and regularly monitor progress towards meeting the targets set out in those plans. A large number of councils are acutely aware of the issues and implications associated with land use changes for their communities and local economies.

LGNZ has advocated strongly for the Government to show greater and urgent action on climate change adaptation and mitigation, and has called on the Government to provide holistic and responsive leadership.



The local government sector's position is that New Zealand must demonstrate a real intention, through a range of realistic plans and initiatives at multiple scales using multiple policy tools and approaches, to meet the targets that it has committed to reach, or it should not have committed to these targets. The Government has a role to play in assisting New Zealand to prioritise the range of mitigation actions that need to be taken.

LGNZ has worked with the Crown to deliver a business case for a Local Government Risk Agency (LGRA) and this is with central government for a decision. Identifying, documenting and addressing the risks of climate change is critical and is one of the key areas that could be delivered by the LGRA.

#### Addressing the problem by making change

We must move on from debating the scale and significance of the problem of climate change. We need to focus on changing behaviour to reduce emissions in New Zealand. Continuing to rely on the purchase of carbon units is no longer an option.

Communities, businesses, iwi and councils have a part to play in making the changes that are necessary in order to reduce our domestic emissions. Incentives are needed to achieve tangible changes. The Government has the ability to incentivise New Zealanders to change their behaviour, and specific examples of how this could happen are outlined in this submission.

While every little bit of action towards reducing emissions and small behavioural changes will help, the significance of the challenge of climate change means that something more than suboptimal temporary change is required. A plan for how we transition to a low emissions economy is urgently required.

#### The consequences of failing to act

The costs of transitioning to a low emissions economy will undoubtedly be significant. But the cost of failing to act will be even greater.

There will be impacts for New Zealand's markets, trade relationships, its built and natural environment, and for the sustainability of its towns and cities if we do not meet the Paris Agreement targets. All of these impacts will, most significantly, have detrimental consequences for the prosperity of iwi and communities, and in particular New Zealand's low socio-economic and rural communities. Further, the costs of failing to act now to address climate change will disproportionately fall to future generations.

Failure to meet the Paris Agreement targets will also have negative impacts for New Zealand's international reputation. It is irrelevant how small New Zealand is compared with other countries, particularly given that New Zealand's emissions per capita are high (as per page 11 of the Productivity Commission's Issues Paper). Regardless of size, other countries will measure the contribution that New Zealand makes to the global reduction of emissions. Our position as one of the largest producers of agricultural (biological) emissions in the world means that we will be watched by other countries for the leadership that we demonstrate in finding ways to reduce those emissions. New Zealand can be a world leader in producing food in a climate constrained world and should not miss the opportunity to act now to provide technological and innovative thought and political leadership.



#### Treat adaptation and mitigation as interrelated

LGNZ understands that the Productivity Commission's inquiry is concerned with mitigation only. However, mitigation and adaptation should not be viewed or considered in isolation from one another. The emissions trajectory that we get locked into will determine the scale of our adaptation challenge. Failure to act now will increase New Zealand communities' exposure to natural hazard events and the costs of adaptation in the long term.

Actions to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change are complementary. Alignment of adaptation and mitigation activities can increase the effectiveness of both and promote additional benefits for resilient communities, water quality outcomes and biodiversity goals at the same time. A transition to a low emissions economy offers the chance to consider additional opportunities for alignment and efficiencies across sectors and regions.

#### World Bank's three broad principles for guiding countries' low-emissions efforts

LGNZ endorses the World Bank's three broad principles for guiding countries' low-emissions efforts (set out at page 60 of the Productivity Commission's Issues Paper) and believes that the principles should underpin New Zealand's transition to a low emissions economy:

- Planning ahead with an eye on the end goal: Implementing a mix of cheap, quick fixes that are sector-specific, as well as locking in costlier, longer-term measures that support technology development and low-carbon infrastructure.
- Supplementing carbon pricing with other policies: Recognising that carbon pricing alone will be insufficient, so creating a policy package that triggers changes in patterns of investment, technologies and behaviours.
- Managing the political economy and smoothing the transition for those who are most 3. affected: Ensuring that climate policy is attractive for the majority, and avoiding impacts appearing to be unfair or concentrated in a region, sector or community.

### **Summary**

LGNZ's position is that the following is needed to aid New Zealand's transition to a low emissions economy:

- Urgent action and holistic leadership on climate change by the Government.
- Commitment by the Government to taking into account climate change impacts in all policy and procurement decisions.
- An Emissions Trading Scheme that removes complexity, provides certainty and incorporates all emitting sectors over time.
- Long-term, cross party commitment to settings that ensure effective carbon prices under the Emissions Trading Scheme.
- Incentives for climate change action that are in line with New Zealand's commitments under the Paris Agreement to reduce domestic emissions.



- Provision by central government of the assistance (including financial assistance) that individuals, communities, iwi and industries require to transition to a low emissions economy.
- Analysis on the merits of new funding models for accelerating the provision of electric vehicles and electric vehicle charging infrastructure.
- Greater investment by central government in electrified public transport and low emissions freight options.
- Analysis on steps that could be taken by central government to make it easier for communities and the private sector to access low emitting building materials and methods.
- A statutory framework that allows local government to take into account climate change impacts and greenhouse gas emissions (eg through amendments to the Resource Management Act and Local Government Act).
- Any climate change legislation (eg legislation that establishes an independent climate change commission or sets emissions reduction targets in law) should take a long-term view and be underpinned by cross-party agreement on direction, so as to ensure sustainability and longevity.
- Incentives for the uptake of innovative technology to reduce emissions, including greater support for climate change research and development in New Zealand.
- A central government led education campaign that makes New Zealanders aware of the opportunities and risks of climate change, and the options for actions that communities can take to contribute to reducing domestic emissions.
- Local government, central government and iwi to work together to develop a clear pathway to a low emissions economy.
- Central government support for local government's search for innovative solutions to the challenge of climate change, including financial support.
- Clear allocation of responsibility for climate change adaptation and mitigation action, including allocation of fiscal responsibility.

### **Responses to questions**

#### Reducing emissions in agriculture

LGNZ is aware that some communities view mitigation action as an "attack on the rural economy" and that there are concerns that the costs of bringing agriculture into the Emissions Trading Scheme would be significant for that sector. LGNZ is equally aware of the importance of agriculture to the prosperity of New Zealand.

However, LGNZ's position is that the following changes are needed:

Ongoing exploration by the Government (and other stakeholders) of the full range of options available for reducing emissions in agriculture.



- Over time, all emitting sectors should pay a price for their emissions, by incorporation into a certain and inclusive Emissions Trading Scheme.
- The Government must provide the agricultural sector with the assistance that it needs to transition. Adopting the two baskets approach, for example, would allow for a softer transition to a low emissions economy for agricultural business owners. <sup>1</sup>
- Government should encourage the agricultural industry to realise the co-benefits that would result from taking steps to reduce emissions, such as robust riparian margins and better freshwater quality and biodiversity outcomes.

#### Alternative land uses and sequestering carbon in forests

To optimise the efficiencies around land use change, and to encourage greater sequestering of carbon in forests, LGNZ believes that:

- Upwards growth needs to be incentivised and outwards growth discouraged, in light of the significant population growth that is projected in New Zealand's metropolitan centres.
- More intensive use of zoned land (eg residential and commercial zoned land) needs to be encouraged to avoid the need to build new infrastructure to reach outlying communities and businesses (which would also avoid the emissions that would result from constructing, servicing and maintaining that infrastructure).
- Local government leaders in metropolitan and growing areas of the country need incentives to rethink and to intensify urban growth and development, including additional financial and regulatory support from Government. Councils need to be supported by the Government to provide public transport and green spaces that meet the needs of communities and businesses in these intensified urban areas. Quality compact city strategies, for example for Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch and Dunedin, can significantly reduce emissions by containing urban sprawl and reducing infrastructure and transport costs and associated emissions.
- The Government may need to provide assistance to the communities that are most affected by land use change, which may include financial assistance.
- Planting more trees is a possible short-term solution, but it is not the solution. Long-term behavioural change is needed if significant reductions in domestic emissions are to be achieved.
- A variety of barriers have prevented more trees from being planted. LGNZ suggests that incoherent policy and pricing within the ETS has reduced landowner and investor confidence which is the main barrier to increasing carbon forestry in New Zealand.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As outlined in the Productivity Commission's Low Emissions Economy issues paper at page 61, "...the two baskets approach, broadly speaking, treats long-lived gases such as CO2 differently to short-lived gases such as CH4. This is because of the length of time that CO2 remains in the atmosphere – up to hundreds of years – which means that cumulative emissions of CO2 are the main driver of global mean surface warming...because short-lived gases have less influence on long-term warming, delays in reducing them, or even whether they should reach zero or can be reduced to lower levels, is arguably less important. One rationale for the two baskets approach therefore is to ensure a focus on reducing CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the immediate term...This is especially pertinent to New Zealand because of the substantial contribution of CH<sub>4</sub>, a short-lived gas, from agriculture to New Zealand's emissions profile. Taking a two-baskets approach could mean setting separate emissions objectives and targets, or using separate pricing schemes, for long-lived and short-lived gases."



- There needs to be removal of the complexity (perceived and real) from policy settings. The complexity of the Emissions Trading Scheme is likely to act as a barrier to small scale foresters and landowners from planting more forests and sequestering more carbon.
- The current inequitable rules for different land uses under the Emissions Trading Scheme do not incentivise agricultural land users to change their land use.
- There needs to be a consultative discussion about where the appropriate places for planting more trees are.
- Emphasis should be placed on the planting of native trees as opposed to exotic trees. Planting of native trees would enable greater co-benefits to be realised, including nutrient filtering, land stabilisation and greater economic returns.
- Options for sequestering carbon in soil (ie increased storage of carbon in soils) should be explored.

#### Electric vehicles and transportation

The increased uptake in electric vehicle use that we are seeing reflects the desire that a number of individuals and organisations have to do their bit to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Electric vehicles are useful, and local authorities are increasingly adding electric vehicles to their fleets, providing electric vehicle charging stations and/or supporting or providing electric car sharing initiatives within their cities. Barriers to further uptake of electric vehicles include the initial purchase price (in comparison to vehicles with nonelectric engines) and the small range on offer in New Zealand. Increased uptake of electric vehicles, however, is not the only solution.

LGNZ's position is that there needs to be:

- Greater investment in electrified public transport systems and active transport systems, and thought given to how people could be transported more effectively. For example, further consideration should be given to options for light rail in key metropolitan centres.
- Quantification of the environmental and health co-benefits of shifting to active transport and electrified public transport modes.
- An analysis of the merits of new funding models for accelerating the provision of electric vehicles and electric vehicle charging infrastructure.
- Consideration of the potential for changes to the resource and building consenting frameworks that encourage and facilitate the development of electric vehicle charging infrastructure for private and commercial use.
- Prioritisation of electrifying the main trunk line and exploring options for shifting freight to lower emission modes, such as rail and coastal shipping.



- Greening roads of national significance and promoting areas adjacent to both major highways and local roads as places to work and live.
- Steps taken to incentivise and make it as easy as possible to establish green infrastructure.

Any decisions that central government makes in respect of transportation need to be nimble enough to adapt to the technological change that the transport sector will experience in the coming decades, such as increased use of electric vehicles and the anticipated uptake of driverless cars and drones as realistic transport alternatives.

#### Building design and use

The way in which we design and use buildings has the potential to deliver both climate change adaptation and mitigation action. More should be done to incentivise the design and use of low emissions buildings, which have adaptation and health co-benefits. LGNZ's view is that communities and the private sector currently lack the knowledge and resources that they need to enable a greater number of sustainable developments to occur.

The following changes would assist:

- Changes to the resource and building consenting frameworks that promote and incentivise the design and use of low emitting buildings.
- Introduction of incentives to encourage the private sector to undertake a cost benefit analysis that takes into account longer term impacts when designing and constructing buildings.
- A requirement that there be greater linking of housing developments with transport planning.
- An analysis by the Government on ways in which it could make it easier for the private sector and communities to access low emitting building materials and methods. Innovative green building materials and technologies are becoming increasingly available. Photocatalysis technology, for example, which can be applied to a range of building materials, enables a process of converting light energy (sun or electric light) into chemical energy to produce Active Oxygen and Hydroxyl Radical.

#### Waste

LGNZ is supportive of waste minimisation and waste avoidance initiatives, which have benefits for lowering emissions, as well as other co-benefits, such as reduced financial and environmental burdens for communities and councils. LGNZ has, for example, advocated for the introduction of a levy on single-use plastic bags.

With respect to emissions reduction in waste, LGNZ's position is that:

- The Government must incentivise and continue to support councils, businesses and communities to adopt waste minimisation and waste avoidance initiatives.
- Pricing should be better utilised to incentivise greater capture and destruction of the methane produced from waste.



The costs of managing waste that councils face are significant. The Government should consult with local government about any further changes that could be made to reduce emissions in waste, and should ensure that councils are provided with the resources and support that they require (including financial assistance) in order to achieve any further possible reductions in emissions from waste.

#### Direct regulation and the current statutory framework

Local government needs to be supported by a statutory framework that allows it to make decisions that take into account climate change impacts, and needs to be incentivised to consider those matters. Currently, councils are precluded from considering the effects of greenhouse gas discharges under the Resource Management Act. The stated purpose of the Resource Management (Energy and Climate Change) Act 2004 was to amend the Resource Management Act to require local authorities to ignore the effects of greenhouse gas discharges.

The fact that councils are, of their own volition, taking action to reduce emissions within their organisations and communities demonstrates the inadequacy of the current statutory framework, and the reality that climate change mitigation is something councils and their communities view as important. However, amendments to the existing legislative framework (or a new one) would provide greater national direction on the approach that should be taken to climate change in decision making.

The following responses are needed:

- Amendments to the Resource Management Act to enable councils to take greenhouse gas emissions into account.
- An amendment to the Local Government Act to provide councils with a broader mandate to take into account the impacts of climate change in all decision making.
- An effective Emissions Trading Scheme that, over time, incorporates all emitting sectors, along with a wider assessment of taxation of the agricultural sector to determine options for mitigating costs on that sector.
- A long-term, cross party commitment to the settings that determine the price for carbon under the Emissions Trading Scheme, particularly to provide investment certainty.

#### Market based instruments

Price is a means of driving people to change their behaviour. Pricing should be more effectively used to drive meaningful change. See the above comments regarding the Emissions Trading Scheme.

Thought should be given to addressing increasing the use of incentives such as demand management tools, for example congestion pricing, as a means of driving behavioural change, and how the revenue from such tools could be utilised to support councils and their communities with climate adaptation and mitigation action.

The Productivity Commission and Government should explore whether non-tariff trade would act as an appropriate barrier to address the impacts of climate change.



#### Support for innovation and technology

One of the benefits of climate change is that innovative technology to reduce emissions is emerging and will continue to emerge, for example technologies designed to reduce emissions in agriculture, low emitting building materials and alternative sources of renewable energy. Technology adoption must be widespread in order to be impactful. Local government can have a role in promoting the use and development of new technologies. Wellington City Council, for example, runs a Low Carbon Challenge through which it supports various projects or businesses that help to lower emissions.

Central government can support the development and uptake of innovative mitigation technology in New Zealand by:

- Encouraging and incentivising climate change related innovation, research and development in New Zealand.
- Providing grants and support for patents, and tax incentives for businesses that undertake research and development.

#### Approaches to embed widespread support for effective reduction of GHG emissions

LGNZ believes that better education on both the impacts of climate change and the opportunities that exist to make a difference towards reduction of emissions is needed to embed widespread support for effective reduction of emissions and to bring about a "change of hearts and minds". Communities need to be involved in climate change decision making, and need to understand the important role that they can play in reducing our domestic emissions. In its Position Statement on Climate Change, LGNZ has called on the Government to lead a campaign to make New Zealanders aware of the opportunities and risks of climate change, and the options for communities to contribute to reducing emissions. Many New Zealanders remain uninformed about the impacts that climate change could have on their daily lives, and are unaware of actions that they could take to help mitigate the impacts of climate change.

While local government can educate its communities on the impacts of and options for addressing climate change, it needs central government to provide a national campaign (comparable to central government campaigns on smoking and road safety) to raise awareness, to promote specific actions that individuals and communities can take to support the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, and to embed widespread community support for those changes.

#### An independent climate change body

LGNZ has previously endorsed the call that was made by the outgoing Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment, Dr Jan Wright, for the establishment of an independent climate change commission, in her report, Stepping stones to Paris and beyond: Climate change, progress and predictability.

LGNZ anticipates that the repeated requests for such a body in recent months are borne out of growing frustration at the current lack of action on climate change by central government. LGNZ would support the establishment of such a body to the extent that it would drive momentum and action. However, an independent climate change body is only part of the solution; it is not the solution.

If a climate change body is established it is critical that:

The body is an independent, expert one.



- The recommendations and findings of the body be made publicly available.
- Any independent body should not be a substitute for the Government taking an integrated approach to climate change and showing strong national leadership on the issue.
- The legislative framework establishing the body takes a long-term view and is underpinned by cross-party agreement on direction so as to ensure its sustainability.
- Regard and emphasis still be had to the importance of adaptation and its interrelatedness with mitigation.

#### The major players in driving forward change

Government at all levels has a role to play in addressing climate change, as does a range wide range of other stakeholders. Government should take an integrated approach to climate change leadership and action, and in particular should ensure that climate change impacts and emissions are taken into account in all policy and procurement decisions that are made. LGNZ is aware of the cross-party work on climate change that is being done by GLOBE New Zealand and is supportive of that work. At the time of writing this submission, Climate Change Issues has not been identified as a relevant portfolio for all of the ten Cabinet Committees to consider. Climate Change Issues is a relevant portfolio that should be taken into account by all Cabinet Committees where appropriate. In addition, further high level commitment to the issue of climate change could be achieved through the establishment of a Climate Change Cabinet Committee.

Iwi have an important role to play in climate change action. Iwi need to be incorporated into any strategies and plans that the Government develops for climate change action, and must be supported to contribute to the reduction of our domestic emissions.

LGNZ has recognised that effective responses to climate change will often be context specific and therefore best addressed at the regional and local level. However, responding to and addressing the impacts of climate change is not something that local government can do alone.

Local government needs the Government to:

- Proactively collaborate with local government, iwi and businesses (as a "coalition of the willing") to develop a joint response to climate change, including a clear pathway to a low carbon economy.
- Take a holistic approach to climate change and show responsive leadership.
- Raise public awareness of climate change initiatives and the actions that communities can take to reduce their emissions.
- Support councils in their search for appropriate responses, and with implementing strategies for mitigation.

Local government is ready and willing to do its bit to address the issue of climate change. It needs the Government to show greater leadership on the issue of climate change and believes that a joint approach to the issues is critical.



#### The sustainability of an effective emissions-mitigation strategy

LGNZ anticipates that voters will increasingly call on the Government to show greater leadership on climate change, especially those voters who are based in cities – the number of which is continuing to increase. Because of this, the government should feel emboldened to make necessary decisions about climate change, outlining where both urban and rural communities can make change However, it is critical that rural communities are consulted about any changes that they can make to reduce emissions, and are supported to make those changes.

In order for any emissions-mitigation strategy to be sustainable, central government must also ensure that the strategy is devised in partnership with local government and iwi, and that there is a clear allocation of responsibility for each of the tiers of government (including a clear decision about and allocation of fiscal responsibility).

#### Climate change presents opportunities and benefits

This submission identifies a number of opportunities and benefits that climate change presents: opportunities for research and development, uptake of innovative new technology, provision of more efficient transportation systems and routes, chances to exploit new markets, the ability to make use of exciting and innovative building design and construction methods, job opportunities and opportunities for progressive urban development, improved catchment security, reduction of natural hazards, soil conservation and improved freshwater quality to name but a few. It is critical that these opportunities are maximised and benefits are realised.

One of the main benefits of comprehensive and forward thinking mitigation action is that the costs of adaptation to climate change will reduce. The reduction in costs will benefit not only central and local government, but also individuals who will likely face greater adaptation costs in respect of their private properties if the impacts of climate change are not addressed now.

#### **Conclusion**

New Zealand is already experiencing the impacts of climate change, as is evident by the increasing number of storm, flood and coastal erosion events that councils and communities are having to deal with. Climate change will have significant impacts on New Zealand's communities, iwi and the private sector, particularly if we don't act as a matter of urgency to address and minimise those impacts.

To be effective, the nationwide strategy for lowering emissions needs to, over time, be inclusive, equitable and incorporate all sectors and groups within society, and should start with a coalition of the willing. LGNZ recognises that different sectors may arrive at a low emissions position faster than others, and that the advantages and burdens of transition will not apply equally to all. Care will need to be taken to ensure that the transition to a low emissions economy does not result in further inequalities. That needs to be balanced against the need for urgent action, given that it is future generations who will disproportionately bear the costs if we fail to act as a matter of urgency.

The co-benefits of the transition need to be recognised and enhanced so that a multitude of benefits results, as opposed to the transition being antagonistic to other national and local goals.



Local government has a shared vision for what prosperous communities will look like in 2050 and beyond. That vision is for communities that are environmentally, socially, economically and culturally prosperous. Climate change presents challenges, opportunities and benefits for New Zealand's communities. In mitigating the impacts of climate change, New Zealand can address the challenges and make the most of the benefits and opportunities that exist to ensure that communities are environmentally, socially, economically and culturally prosperous in a climate constrained world.



## **Appendix A**

Local government leaders' climate change declaration and local government position statement on climate change

Who's putting local issues on the national agenda?

#### We are. LGNZ.

#### **Local Government Leaders' Climate Change Declaration**

In 2015, Mayors and Chairs of New Zealand declared an urgent need for responsive leadership and a holistic approach to climate change. We, the Mayors and Chairs of 2017, wholeheartedly support that call for action.

Climate change presents significant opportunities, challenges and risks to communities throughout the world and in New Zealand. Local and regional government undertakes a wide range of activities that will be impacted by climate change and provides infrastructure and services useful in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and enhancing resilience.

We have come together, as a group of Mayors and Chairs representing local government from across New Zealand to:

- 1. acknowledge the importance and urgent need to address climate change for the benefit of current and future generations;
- 2. give our support to the New Zealand Government for developing and implementing, in collaboration with councils, communities and businesses, an ambitious transition plan toward a low carbon and resilient New Zealand;
- 3. encourage Government to be more ambitious with climate change mitigation measures;
- 4. outline key commitments our councils will take in responding to the opportunities and risks posed by climate change; and
- 5. recommend important guiding principles for responding to climate change.

We ask that the New Zealand Government make it a priority to develop and implement an ambitious transition plan for a low carbon and resilient New Zealand. We stress the benefits of early action to moderate the costs of adaptation to our communities. We are all too aware of challenges we face shoring up infrastructure and managing insurance costs. These are serious financial considerations for councils and their communities.

To underpin this plan, we ask that a holistic economic assessment is undertaken of New Zealand's vulnerability to the impacts of climate change and of the opportunities and benefits for responding. We believe that New Zealand has much at stake and much to gain by adopting strong leadership on climate change emission reduction targets.

We know that New Zealanders are highly inventive, capable and passionate about the environment. New Zealanders are proud of our green landscapes, healthy environment and our unique kiwi identity and way of life. Central and local government, working together with communities and business, can develop and implement ambitious strategies based on sound science, to protect our national inheritance and security.

#### **Council Commitments**

For our part we commit to:

- Develop and implement ambitious action plans that reduce greenhouse gas emissions and support resilience within our own councils and for our local communities. These plans will:
  - a. promote walking, cycling, public transport and other low carbon transport options;
  - b. work to improve the resource efficiency and health of homes, businesses and infrastructure in our district; and
  - c. support the use of renewable energy and uptake of electric vehicles.
- 2. Work with our communities to understand, prepare for and respond to the physical impacts of climate change.
- 3. Work with central government to deliver on national emission reduction targets and support resilience in our communities.

We believe these actions will result in widespread and substantial benefits for our communities such as; creating new jobs and business opportunities, creating a more competitive and future-proof economy, more efficient delivery of council services, improved public health, creating stronger more connected communities, supporting life-long learning, reducing air pollution and supporting local biodiversity. In short, it will help to make our communities great places to live, work, learn and visit for generations to come.

#### **Guiding Principles**

The following principles provide guidance for decision making on climate change. These principles are based on established legal<sup>1</sup> and moral obligations placed on Government when considering the current and future social, economic and environmental well-being of the communities they represent.

#### 1. Precaution

There is clear and compelling evidence for the need to act now on climate change and to adopt a precautionary approach because of the irreversible nature and scale of risks involved. Together with the global community, we must eliminate the possibility of planetary warming beyond two degrees from pre-industrial levels. This could potentially threaten life on Earth (Article 2 of the UNFCCC). Actions need to be based on sound scientific evidence and resourced to deliver the necessary advances. Acting now will reduce future risks and costs associated with climate change.

#### 2. Stewardship/Kaitiakitanga

Each person and organisation has a duty of care to safeguard the life-supporting capacity of our environment on which we all depend and to care for each other. Broad-based climate policies should enable all organisations and individuals to do all they feasibly can to reduce emissions and enhance resilience. Policies should be flexible to allow for locally and culturally appropriate responses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These Guiding Principles are established within the: Treaty of Waitangi, Resource Management Act 1991, Local Government Act 2002, Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act 2002, Oslo Principles 2014, Principles of Fundamental Justice and Human Rights.

#### 3. Equity/Justice

It is a fundamental human right to inherit a habitable planet and live in a just society. The most vulnerable in our community are often disproportionately affected by change and natural hazards. Approaches need to consider those most affected and without a voice, including vulnerable members in our community, our Pacific neighbours and future generations.

#### 4. Anticipation (thinking and acting long-term)

Long-term thinking, policies and actions are needed to ensure the reasonably foreseeable needs of current and future generations are met. A clear and consistent pathway toward a low carbon and resilient future needs to provide certainty for successive governments, businesses and communities to enable transformative decisions and investments to be made over time.

#### 5. Understanding

Sound knowledge is the basis of informed decision making and participatory democracy. Using the best available information in education, community consultation, planning and decision making is vital. Growing understanding about the potential impacts of climate change, and the need for, and ways to respond, along with understanding the costs and benefits for acting, will be crucial to gain community support for the transformational approaches needed.

#### 6. Co-operation

The nature and scale of climate change requires a global response and human solidarity. We have a shared responsibility and can not effectively respond alone. Building strong relationships between countries and across communities, organisations and scientific disciplines will be vital to share knowledge, drive innovation, and support social and economic progress in addressing climate change.

#### 7. Resilience

Some of the impacts of climate change are now unavoidable. Enhancing the resilience and readiness of communities and businesses is needed so they can thrive in the face of changes. Protecting the safety of people and property is supported by sound planning and a good understanding of the risks and potential responses to avoid and mitigate risk.

#### THE FOLLOWING MAYORS AND CHAIRS SUPPORT THIS DECLARATION

Mayor Dave Cull
Dunedin City Council

Mayor Lianne Dalziel
Christchurch City Council

Kay Wallace.

**Mayor Ray Wallace** 

**Hutt City Council** 

**Mayor Grant Smith** 

Palmerston North City Council

1

Mayor Rachel Reese Nelson City Council Mayor Steve Chadwick Rotorua Lakes Council

Mayor Wayne Guppy

Upper Hutt City Council

**Mayor Don Cameron** 

Ruapehu District Council

Chris Laidlaw, Chair

**Greater Wellington Regional Council** 

**Mayor David Ayers** 

Waimakariri District Council

**Mayor Winston Gray** 

Mayor

Kaikoura District Council

**Mayor Bill Dalton** 

**Napier City Council** 



Mayor Andy Watson Rangitikei District Council

Mayor Allan Sanson Waikato District Council

Mayor Justin Lester Wellington City Council

Mayor Phil Goff
Auckland Council

Mayor Sam Broughton Selwyn District Council

Rex Graham, Chair Hawke's Bay Regional Council Mayor Lyn Patterson

Mayor Lyn Patterson

Masterton District Council

**Stephen Woodhead, Chair** Otago Regional Council

Mayor Tony Bonne Whakatane District Council

Mayor K (Guru) Gurunathan Kāpiti Coast District Council

Mayor Bryan Cadogan Clutha District Council

Mayor John Tregidga Hauraki District Council

Mayor Neil Holdom New Plymouth District Council J.B.Boff:

Mayor John Booth

**Carterton District Council** 

Mayor Alex Walker

Central Hawke's Bay District Council

Bill Shepherd, Chair

Northland Regional Council

**Mayor Tracy Hicks** 

Gore District Council

**Mayor Jenny Shattock** 

South Waikato District Council

Mayor Tim Shadbolt

**Invercargill City Council** 

**Mayor Brian Hanna** 

Waitomo District Council

**Mayor Viv Napier** 

South Wairarapa District Council

David MacLeod, Chair

Taranaki Regional Council

**Mayor Tim Cadogan** 

Central Otago District Council

**Mayor John Leggett** 

Marlborough District Council

**Mayor Hamish McDouall** 

Whanganui District Council

**Acting Mayor Sandra Hazlehurst** 

Tranch Aylehut

ShSHLownder.

**Hastings District Council** 

**Steve Lowndes, Acting Chair** 

**Environment Canterbury** 

Ow Len.

**Doug Leeder, Chair**Bay of Plenty Regional Council

Alan Livingston, Chair Waikato Regional Council

10 Mayor Greg Brownless

Mayor Greg Brownless Tauranga City Council

Mayor Meng Foon Gisborne District Council

Mayor Mike Tana Porirua City Council

Mayor Alfred Preece Chatham Islands Council Pass.

Mayor Jan Barnes Matamata-Piako District Council

Mayor Garry Webber

Western Bay of Plenty District Council

Bordin

**Bruce Gordon, Chair** Horizons Regional Council

Nicol Horrell, Chair Environment Southland

Mayor Richard Kempthorne Tasman District Council

of lighell

Mayor Malcolm Campbell Kawerau District Council

# Local government position statement on climate change

Local government recognises a critical need for proactive collaboration between central and local government, and between city, regional, unitary and district councils which recognises the different mandates and roles for climate change responses. We will work together with our communities.



We are. LGNZ.

#### Introduction

< Responsive leadership and a holistic approach to climate change is urgent. We must act now to avoid future risk and, at the same time, agree how to manage safety, existing risks, limitations and liabilities to underpin effective mitigation and adaptation. >

Climate change will affect us all during our lifetimes. The impacts that we observe today are the result of historical emissions and the increase in emissions in recent decades will lead to significant change in the coming years.

**Environmental prosperity.** We want to nurture our natural resources and ecosystems as environmental stewards, promoting biodiversity and environmental sustainability, and embodying the concept of kaitiakitanga. We want our social, cultural and economic activities to be aligned with our goals for the environment, and to be secure and resilient to the effects of climate change.

**Social prosperity:** We want communities that are characterised by equality, social cohesion and inclusiveness. In the face of the long-term implications of climate change, we also want our communities to promote inter-generational equity where we meet the needs of the present population, without compromising the ability to meet the needs of future generations.

**Cultural prosperity.** We want our communities to be empowered and enabled to express and celebrate their diverse cultural heritages, and recognise the particular cultural significance of Māori as tangata whenua of New Zealand. We want to support all cultures as they adapt to significant changes in climate, and influence how our society manages the environment.

**Economic prosperity.** We want to have a sustainable economy with world-leading productivity in which all New Zealanders have the opportunity to contribute and succeed. We want an economy that adapts to issues like climate change while still supporting the living standards New Zealanders need to lead happy, healthy lives.

Local government has a shared vision for what prosperous communities will look like in 2050 – and beyond. The 2050 vision encompasses four well-beings of environmental, social, cultural and economic prosperity. Climate change creates both opportunities and significant challenges in achieving prosperity in these four areas.

Climate change actions have three components:

- 1. actions to reduce emissions (mitigation);
- 2. planning and actions at the national and local level to support public safety and effective adaptation; and
- limiting or removing pressure on systems affected by climate change.

All local authorities (city, regional, district and unitary) are at the frontline of climate change adaptation and have a role to play in mitigation.

Property owners and communities already facing the impacts of climate change are seeking assistance from local government.

Decisions that are made today (or even where no decision is made) about infrastructure, land and water use and urban development will determine the extent and impact of climate change, community vulnerability and resilience outcomes.

City councils are well-positioned to lead and co-ordinate communities to reduce their emissions, both directly as a provider of infrastructure and services, and indirectly through their influence over activities responsible for emissions. Internationally, cities' emissions reduction efforts complement national strategies of building economic competitiveness through low carbon development.

< Action on climate change requires coherent and consistent governance across central and local government. Action on climate change requires a comprehensive understanding of the opportunities and risks, innovation, and prioritised actions to achieve our vision for prosperous communities. >

### Part one: local government led action on climate change

#### 1. Local government will collaborate

Local government (regional, unitary, district and city councils) will collaborate to achieve our shared vision for prosperous New Zealand communities in 2050.

All of local government is charged with meeting the current and future needs of communities for infrastructure, local public services, and regulatory functions (Local Government Act, section 10b). The focus of regional (and unitary) councils and district or city councils can differ however. Regional councils focus on decisions that relate to resource use and hazard management, while city and district councils provide core services that can impact on resources including land, water and coastal areas. By utilising the full range of skills and capabilities in local authorities we can align and support decisions to achieve a consistent understanding of environmental, social, cultural and economic opportunities and consequences of climate change in our communities. This requires strong leadership across all levels of local government.

LGNZ will advocate for and support collaborative efforts within the sector to improve the effectiveness of land use, service delivery and planning.

## 2. Local government will incorporate climate change implications into urban development and land-use decisions and take a long term approach to waste management and energy use, including transport infrastructure.

Local government recognises the value of explicitly incorporating climate change considerations, including emissions, into land-use decisions, district plans, urban design and development, energy use, transport planning and waste management.

Local government is working to proactively develop New Zealand's urban centres into sustainable, liveable, globally competitive 21st century cities. To achieve this, cities need to promote high quality, higher-density living. Local government will ensure that low carbon, climate-resilient development is adopted as a key tenet of urban growth and development and land use decisions.

Encouraging more intensive use of zoned land to avoid the need to build new infrastructure to reach outlying businesses avoids emissions that would result from construction, and from servicing and maintaining the infrastructure itself, and promotes lower emissions from those living and working in the area.

This approach is not limited to urban environments. Land-use decisions made in regional and provincial New Zealand have an equally significant effect on emissions and on community resilience to climate change impacts. To make land-use decisions that mitigate emissions, local government will develop its understanding of the impacts of zoning and land use decisions on the emissions trajectory for their communities.

Global emissions will need to pick up momentum to limit warming to the internationally agreed goal of staying below 2°C above pre-industrial levels.

New Zealand's challenge is also significant as our greenhouse gas emissions continue to rise. By 2014 they had risen 6 per cent from 2000 levels and 23 per cent from 1990 levels. Road transport, industry and agriculture are the main drivers of this increase. New Zealand ratified the Paris Agreement on 4 October 2016, submitting a target to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 30 per cent below 2005 levels by 2030. This target is equivalent to 11 per cent below 1990 levels by 2030. Achieving reductions will require action across land use and forestry, urban development and planning, energy and transport.

Local government will incorporate emissions reduction targets into investment decisions that it makes on transport, fleet procurement and waste management.

## 3. Local government will take an all hazard approach to managing risks

Local government has responsibilities to plan for and provide infrastructure, and to avoid or reduce the risk of hazards such as floods, storms, and sea level rise. It is understood that climate change is changing the severity and frequency of these events. Local government recognises that these changing patterns also mean that these hazards can interact in new ways. For example, the combination of an extended drought and sea level rise could have a worse impact on water supply than either event alone.

## Local government will explicitly build in the effects of climate change as part of an all hazards assessment to inform decision-making.

The cost of climate exacerbated natural hazard events in our communities is on the rise. Historic settlement patterns leave people, public assets and private investments exposed to storms, sea level rise and flooding (including flooding from rising ground water levels). Local government costs include damage and renewals of infrastructure and civil defence responses. In the interests of the public good these costs are borne by the community as a whole. Compensation for loss of private investments will not be funded by local government.

## 4. Local government will factor in the impacts of climate change on water security

Local government will factor climate change projections into all freshwater investments and adapt water management practices to match these changing conditions. This includes investment in land use change and green infrastructure eg wetlands, rain gardens and swales.

Future climate projections show that changing meteorological conditions will alter the amount of rainfall around the country and at the same time there is likely to be increased societal demand for freshwater. This will affect the amount of water able to be allocated and in turn, the efficient provision of three water services.

Local government will factor in the impacts of climate change on water security. Local government will identify the changes required in infrastructure investment, including green infrastructure (wetlands, rain gardens and swales), and the management of water quality and quantity.

## Part two: what local government requires of central government

Government at all levels, individuals and the private sector have different but complementary roles in adapting to climate change. Effective responses to climate change are context specific and are therefore best addressed at the regional and local level. Internationally, cities and regions are increasingly seen as policy laboratories for action on climate change .There is an opportunity for local authorities in New Zealand to try different approaches.

Innovative technological practices and the implementation of strategies are needed at the appropriate levels for adaptation and mitigation. Central government needs to support local government's search for appropriate responses by supporting innovation within local government.

To effectively address climate change at a national level, local government seeks central government action in four key areas:

## 1. National campaign to raise awareness of climate change

A central government led campaign is needed to make New Zealanders aware of the opportunities and risks of climate change, and the options for communities to contribute to reducing emissions.

Many New Zealanders understand the fundamental causes and impacts of climate change at a global level but most remain uninformed about the impacts that climate change could have on their daily lives, and are unaware of how the actions of their community can help to mitigate emissions. While local government can educate their communities on the impacts of climate change, we seek a national campaign (comparable to central government campaigns on smoking and road safety) to raise awareness and to promote specific actions individuals and communities can take to support the reduction of green house gas emissions and adaptation measures.

## 2. Policy alignment and a clear mandate to address climate change

Central government policies can support (or hinder) council, private sector and community action to respond to climate change.

Effective climate policy involves a diverse range of adaptation and mitigation actions. A broad review of existing policy is required to support climate change adaptation and mitigation actions.

To highlight that local government's actions to address climate change are part of a national effort, we seek an explicit mandate under the Local Government Act to consider how decisions affect climate change outcomes.

#### 3. A decision on fiscal responsibility for adaptation

Responding to the challenges posed by rising sea levels and increased rainfall requires national consensus on who will bear the costs. As the national policy setter, central government needs to lead the discussion on roles and responsibilities for adaptation actions, including fiscal responsibility.

The effects of climate change, such as rising sea levels, create a new set of social, economic and political challenges, for instance in supporting people that are displaced by eroding coastlines and flooding. These decisions will have repercussions for all communities and need to be considered as a matter of urgency, as the effects of climate change are already being felt in the form of increased flooding and exacerbated erosion on our coasts.

We seek a clear statement from central government on responsibilities (for government at all levels, private sector and individuals) for adaptation actions, including fiscal responsibility.

## 4. Co-investment with central government to support low carbon, climate resilient infrastructure.

Central government policy settings and incentives must provide clear, consistent and enduring direction to ensure we are investing in low carbon, climate resilient infrastructure. The Government Policy Statement on Land Transport, for example, should incorporate aims for emissions, including active transport (walking and cycling), public transport and consider the cumulative effects of emissions.

Local government seeks to work with central government to develop a joint response to climate change including a clear pathway to a low carbon economy.

